State Supreme Court No. 47660-6-II
Pierce County Superior Court No. 14-2-09395-6

Marking Son Sign

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

KEVIN ANDERSON, Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES,
DIVISION OF CHILD SUPPORT, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kevin Anderson, pro se 727189 MB-05 Airway Heights Corrections Center PO Box 2049 Airway Heights, WA 99001

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pursuant to Division of Child Support (DCS) rules, WAC 388-14A-2110, Anderson submitted a written public records request to DCS, for records related to his own child support case. In response, DCS redacted garnishment information from Anderson's requested case-comment printout --Initially, DCS cited seven different authorities for this withholding, but in the course of litigation, DCS disclosed this information and admitted that one of the cited authorites did not apply to any of the withholdings in Anderson's case-comment printout-- and entirely

withheld a specifically requested email. CP 2-6, Appellant's Opening Brief @ 1, Appellant's Reply Brief @ 1-2, and Published Opinion @ 1.

Thirty weeks after having his two administrative appeals denied and ignored, Anderson, again, following the rules, WAC 388-01-130, filed suit under the Public Records Act (PRA); Anderson explicitly alleged that DCS had violated the PRA by "... withholding non-exempt public records from Mr. Anderson's [requested] inspection." CP 8-9 and Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration @ 2-3.

During litigation, DCS admitted that RCW 26.23.120 did not exempt garnishment information, and it produced a "revised" case-comment printout in which garnishment information from Anderson's own support case was no longer redacted. Additionally, after denying two appeals regarding the entire withholding of the email, DCS unexplainedly reversed course and disclosed the requested, non-exempt metadata from the email. All the while, in court, DCS argued "... the PRA's disclosure and production requirements are not applicable to [records maintained by DCS]." CP 43, Appellant's Opening Brief @ 10-21, and Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration @ 9-10.

Only days after DCS' second post-lawsuit production of requested non-exempt public records, the superior court granted DCS' summary judgment motion; it (erroneously) decided that an individual's own case history, which includes admittedly non-exempt garnishment information, is "... exempt from disclosure by RCW 26.23.120(1) and RCW 42.56.070(1)...," and the email, which had by this time been partially disclosed, is "... protected from disclosure by attorney/client privilege, RCW 5.60.060(2)." CP 58.

Anderson appealed, and both parties presented questions concerning whether or not RCW 26.23.120 categorically exempts DCS records --specifically, an individual's own case history. Appellant's Opening Brief @ 8 [Issues Related to Assignment of Error No. 5] and Respondent's Amended Brief @ 3 [Counterstatement of the Issues No. 3]. Furthermore, Anderson argued that DCS' post-lawsuit disclosure of the email's metadata, which had been withheld under attorney-client privilege, not RCW 26.23.120, unequivocally proved that DCS had violated the PRA. Appellant's Opening brief @ 18-21 and Appellant's Reply Brief @ 7-8.

Division Two expressly passed on the parties' presented questions: "We note that we are not holding that RCW 26.23.120 is a cateogical exemption..." Published Opinion @ 12 [Footnote No. 16]. Instead, Division Two simply declared DCS' response —in withholding two separate, requested, non-exempt public records until after a PRA lawsuit is filed— to be "proper." Published Opinion @ 2.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Division Two failed to address the "... and shall only be subject to public disclosure as provided in subsection (2) of this section[]" portion of RCW 26.23.120(1), the "rules" created under RCW 26.23.120(2)' rule-making authority, or RCW 26.23.120(3)(b); does this case of first impression demand a more thorough, nuanced analysis of this statute?
- 2. Is the Court prepared to create a whole new class of information --garnishment information found in an individual's own DCS case history-- that is subject to complusory disclosure while simultaneously being exempt from disclosure?
- 3. Is the Court prepared to leave over a million individuals with no way to challenge "any" withholding of the individuals' own records --considering RCW 26.23.120(3)(b)'s directive?

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. GROUNDS FOR ACCEPTING REVIEW
- a. Division Two's Decision Conflicts with The Precedent of This Court.

According to City of Lakewood v. Koening, 182 Wn.2d 87, 343 P.3d 335 (2014), agencies violate the PRA when they identify multiple possible claims of exemption for a withholding instead of linking each withholding to its applicable statutory claim of exemption.

Here, DCS withheld garnishment information from Anderson's requested case-comment printout, an admitted public record, by identifying "1,2" and "2,3" from DCS' list of common redactions. CP 25 [First Declaration of Kevin Anderson @ No. 2, case-comment printout @ 11]. Under "1,2" and "2,3" of DCS' list of common redactions, seven different statutes and administrative codes are identified as authorizing DCS' withholding. CP 14 [First Declaration of Kevin Anderson @ No. 3]. One authority identified as authorizing DCS' withholding of garnishment information is RCW 26.23.120, but in response to discovery, DCS admitted "... that there is no exemption under RCW 26.23.120 which allows DCS to withhold from Mr. Anderson names of individuals on whom DCS served an order to withhold

and deliver to collect the child support debt owed by Mr.

Anderson." CP 70 [Fifth Declaration of Kevin Anderson @ No. 7,

Def's Response to Request for Admission No. 14]. Another

authority DCS identified as authorizing its withholding of

garnishment information is RCW 74.04.062, but here too, DCS

has admitted that this authority "... does not apply to any

of the redactions [DCS] applied to [Anderson's requested case
comment printout]." CP 70 [Fifth Declaration of Kevin Anderson

@ No. 7, Def's Response to Request for Admission No. 24].

Division Two erred in its decision: "Anderson also argues that DCS violated the PRA by (1) citing multiple authorities to explain its redactions to his case comment history.... DCS cited the propre statutory authority for each of its redactions to the case comment history. Although DCS attached a list of 11 possible justifications for the redactions to the case comment history, it tied each redaction to a specific justification. To the extent DCS cited multiple statutes and regulations within each justification, each of those citations exempted the same type of confidential information and explained the basis for its redactions based on this authority. Thus, Anderson does not show that DCS' citing multiple authorities was improper."

Published Opinion @ 11 [Footnote No. 14].

DCS failed to link withholdings of requested public records to applicable statutory authorization; thus, DCS violated the PRA according to City of Lakewood v. Koenig.

Also, according to O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010), email metadata is subject to public disclosure.

Here, Anderson identified the email, an admitted public record, that he was requesting by its metadata: Anderson sought a very specific email "sent from" a DCS employee, "to" the King County Prosecutor's Office, and "on" a referenced date. CP 36. And when DCS misidentified the email's metadata, Anderson administratively appealed specifically on the ground that the metadata was incorrect; thus, the identified email was not the one he was requesting. Respondent's Amended Brief @ 9. Furthermore, post-litigation, Anderson contacted the Attorney General's Office, DCS' Counsel and again requested that the email's metadata be correctly identified, but this appeal was also denied. Appellant's Reply Brief @ 7. Finally, DCS produced the email's metadata nine months after Anderson sued. Appellant's Opening Brief @ 18-21.

Division Two has completely mischaracterized this issue:

"We hold that the email string AS REDACTED is a protected attorney-client communication..." (emphasis added). Published Opinion @ 11. The "as redacted" email string was only disclosed because of Anderson's PRA lawsuit; thus, DCS violated the PRA by withholding non-exempt, requested metadata until after Anderson sued.

Also, according to Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wn.2d 25, 929 P.2d 389 (1997), a requested public record that contains both exempt and non-exempt information, like Anderson's requested email, cannot be withheld in its entirety.

According to DCS, "When the Department searched for the requested e-mail, the only copy it found was imbedded within an e-mail chain.... The Department determined that all of the e-mails contained in the chain were privileged." Respondent's Amended Brief @ 8-9.

If the only copy of the requested email DCS found contained "imbedded" metadata, DCS should have produced the non-exempt metadata and claimed the rest exempt; thus, DCS violated the PRA according to Amren.

Finally, according to <u>Dietz v. Doe</u>, 131 Wn.2d 835 935 P.2d 611 (1997), the identity of an attorney's client is never protected under Attorney-client privilege.

Here, however, the requested, imbedded "sent from" metadata was withheld under attorney-client privilege.

b. Division Two's Decision Conflicts with A Division
 One Decision.

Anderson has argued that DCS waived all claims of privilege when it recorded the contents of the email in Anderson's case-comment history, which is meant to be seen by non-attorneys. This is what Division One held in Mechling v. City of Monroe.

152 Wn.App. 830, 227 P.3d 808 (Div. I, 2009), review denied,
169 Wn.2d 1007, 236 P.3d 206 (2010). CP 64 and Appellant's
Opening Brief @ 20.

Neither the superior court nor Division Two has addressed Anderson's argument.

c. This Case Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

With its published opinion, Division Two has limited over a million individuals' ability to access their own DCS records.

According to DCS' numbers, over a million people are affected by Dvision Two's erroneous, published opinion: "[DCS] maintains records on more than 350,000 active child support cases. Each case involves a non-custodial parent, a custodial parent, and at least one child." Respondent's Amended Brief @ 1. Thus, DCS maintains records on more than a million people.

Also according to DCS, any decision it unilaterally reaches with regard to an individual requesting his or her own records is unchallengable: "... ANY redactions made within [a] case comments or explanations provided for those redactions cannot serve as the basis for a PRA violation[]" (emphasis added). CP 44. Also, "... these records (and information contained therein) are exempt in their entirety from disclosure and production under the PRA." CP 45.

So, to be clear, DCS believes that it has no obligation to produce non-exempt information from admitted public records, and even if it does so (as is the case here), there is no recourse for Anderson or any of the other million-plus individuals.

2. A MORE THOROUGH, NUANCED ANALYSIS OF RCW 26.23.120 IS NEEDED.

Without addressing the rules created under RCW 26.23.120(2)'s grant of rule-making authority or RCW 26.23.120(3)(b), Division Two's analysis of RCW 26.23.120 is incomplete and incorrect.

DCS has consistently argued that the records it maintains on individuals are categorically or wholly exempt from disclosure, and it has been legislatively granted unfettered rule-making authority regarding the disclosure of records it maintains.

DCS never bothers to identify one rule that precludes it from releasing an individual's own information to him or her.

Anderson has maintained that DCS' rule-making authority is limited by the second half of RCW 26.23.120(1) and RCW 26.23.120(3)(b): Under certain circumstances, DCS records are subject to disclosure under the PRA, one such circumstance is when the information pertains to the requestor, RCW 26.23.120(3)(b). Also, Anderson has identified DCS rules that directed him to submit a public records request for access to his own records and file a PRA lawsuit to challenge a withholding.

The superior court's decision is completely contradicted by the evidence and simply wrong: The superior court determined Anderson's requested case-comment printout to be "... not

disclosable by RCW 26.23.120(1) and RCW 42.56.070(1)." CP 58.

However, whether or not RCW 26.23.120 authorized DCS to withhold the garnishment information that was actually withheld in this case is not even an issue; in fact, DCS admits: "...

THERE IS NO EXEMPTION UNDER RCW 26.23.120 WHICH ALLOWS DCS TO WITHHOLD FROM MR. ANDERSON NAMES OF INDIVIDUALS ON WHOM DCS

SERVED AN ORDER TO WITHHOLD AND DELIVER TO COLLECT THE CHILD SUPPORT DEBT OWED BY MR. ANDERSON[]" (emphasis added). CP 70

[Fifth Declaration of Kevin Anderson @ No. 7, Def's Response to Request for Admission No. 14].

A record that contains admittedly non-exempt information cannot be deemed to be categorically exempt.

Division Two's decision is equally contradicted by the record and equally wrong --In light of the inarguable fact that DCS rules, wAC 388-14A-4600, authorize it to operate an internet site and upload supposedly exempt information onto the internet, Division Two could not sign on to any argument of categorical exemption; instead, Division Two called DCS' response "proper."

Again however, whether or not DCS' redaction of garnishment information was proper is not even at issue: When asked to explain why garnishment information was withheld, DCS' Counsel

stated, in open court: "YOUR HONOR, I CAN'T SAY.... I THINK

THAT SOME OF THESE REDACTIONS WERE IMPROPER..." (emphasis added).

Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration @ 9-10.

Under RCW 74.20A.080(13), garnishment information is subject to mandatory disclsoure --to the debtor of the action, and there is no identified authority that allows DCS to withhold this information; thus, DCS must be found to have violated the PRA by withholding non-exempt information from an admitted public record.

Also, Anderson's uncontested identification of DCS' rules governing the disclosure of public records must be, must be addressed and distinguished if the Court finds DCS' response to be "proper." Appellant's Reply Brief @ 6-9.

E. CONCLUSION

Both Courts' Decisions are absolutely contradicted by the record. If no set of facts could possibly animate a PRA claim against DCS for admittedly withhholding non-exempt information from an admitted public record, then DCS is de facto exempt from the PRA, and a million-plus people have lost their right to their own records.