# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

# **CLERK'S OFFICE**

3/13/2017 4:18 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 94092-4

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KEVIN ANDERSON,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES, DIVISION OF CHILD SUPPORT

Respondent.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ANNE C. MILLER Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 48355 Social & Health Services Division P.O. Box 40124 Olympia, WA 98504-0124 (360) 586-6565 OID No. 91021

#

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

# V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A petition for discretionary review by this Court must show that the Court of Appeals decision meets the factors in RAP 13.4(b), which provides:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Mr. Anderson raises numerous issues for review by this Court. However, he does not show that any of these issues meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). Mr. Anderson cannot show that this case conflicts with a decision of this Court or with another decision of a Washington State Appellate Court. Nor does he show how the petition raises an issue of substantial public interest because the Court of Appeals decision still allows access to child support case records while protecting the privacy of

those individuals involved in child support cases from inappropriate disclosures under the auspices of the PRA.

- A. The Decision Does Not Conflict With a Decision of This Court or Another Division of the Court of Appeals
  - 1. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that RCW 26.23.120 is an "other statute" that exempts child support case records from disclosure under the PRA and provides the exclusive process for accessing such records.

The Court of Appeals held that redactions within records governed by RCW 26.23.120 "cannot be the basis for a PRA penalty regardless of when disclosure occurred." *Anderson*, 196 Wn. App. at 685 n.14. Mr. Anderson claims that this holding conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. Pet. for Review at 5-6. He is incorrect. Although no appellate case has explicitly addressed RCW 26.23.120, the Court of Appeals' reasoning rests firmly on long-standing precedent.

The PRA generally requires agencies to make public records available for inspection by the public. RCW 42.56.070. Not all public records, however, are available to the public under the PRA. The requirement to make records available for public inspection does not apply to records that fall "within the specific exemptions of [the PRA] or other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or

records." RCW 42.56.070(1) (emphasis added). Where an "other statute" prohibits disclosure of specific public records in their entirety, the record or information may be withheld in its entirety, notwithstanding the PRA's redaction requirement. *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 262, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) (discussing Trade Secrets Act). Thus, this Court has recognized that some "other statute" exemptions may wholly exempt public records under the PRA.

In concluding that RCW 26.23.120(1) is an "other statute" that wholly exempts child support case records from disclosure or production under the PRA, the Court of Appeals relied on the plain language of the statute and on long-standing case law interpreting similar statutory language governing child support records.

First, the Court of Appeals properly recognized that the plain language of RCW 26.23.120(1) exempts all DCS records and information related to individuals who are subject to DCS child support enforcement services from the PRA:

Any information or records concerning individuals who owe a support obligation or for whom support enforcement services are being provided which are obtained or maintained by . . . the division of child support . . . shall be private and confidential and shall only be subject to public disclosure as provided in subsection (2) of this section.

RCW 26.23.120(1) (emphasis added). RCW 26.23.120(2), in turn, grants DCS broad discretion to adopt rules governing the disclosure of child support case records.

RCW 26.23.120 does not provide additional rules governing the disclosure of these DCS records; it provides the "only" permissible rules for disclosure. RCW 26.23.120(1). The PRA's rules for disclosure and production of the records, therefore, cannot apply to DCS records governed by RCW 26.23.120.

Second, the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with its prior cases interpreting nearly identical language in RCW 13.50.100. *Anderson,* 196 Wn. App. at 683. Using language strikingly similar to RCW 26.23.120, RCW 13.50.100 "expressly provides that juvenile justice and care records 'shall be confidential and shall be released only pursuant to this section and RCW 13.50.010." *Anderson,* 196 Wn. App. at 683-84 (quoting RCW 13.50.100(2)). In a series of cases addressing PRA claims related to requests for records governed by RCW 13.50.100, the Court of Appeals has held that "the language in chapter 13.50 RCW provides an exception to the general rule that all public records are subject to disclosure, and that this disclosure statute was consistent with the purpose of the PRA . . . ." *Anderson,* 196 Wn. App. at 684 (citing *Deer v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 122 Wn. App. 84, 93 P.3d 195 (2004)); *Wright v.* 

Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 176 Wn. App. 585, 309 P.3d 662 (2013), review denied, 179 Wn.2d 1021 (2014).

Like RCW 13.50.100, RCW 26.23.120 balances the PRA's policy of allowing access to records held by government agencies with the public interest in protecting the privacy of individuals involved in child support cases. *Anderson*, 196 Wn. App. at 684 (citing *Deer*, 122 Wn. App. at 93). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly held that RCW 26.23.120 exempts records from disclosure under the PRA, provides an alternative mechanism for disclosure, and does not conflict with the PRA. *Anderson*, 196 Wn. App. at 684.

DCS notes that Mr. Anderson did not raise concerns related to the case comments at any time before commencing his PRA lawsuit. CP at 233, 228. Once Mr. Anderson raised concerns about redactions, DCS reviewed the redactions and provided an updated copy of the case comments. CP at 229, 236-38. It left unredacted information that it could reasonably justify disclosing to Mr. Anderson under RCW 26.23.120. CP at 229, 236-38. But DCS's willingness to work with Mr. Anderson to provide records where permissible *under RCW 26.23.120* does not change that child support case comments are entirely exempt from disclosure under the PRA, and DCS's response to a request for the case comments cannot serve as the basis for a PRA claim.

# 2. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with the PRA precedents of this Court or the Court of Appeals.

Mr. Anderson's argument that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's holdings in *City of Lakewood v. Koenig*, 182 Wn.2d 87, 343 P.3d 335 (2014) and *Amren v. City of Kalama*, 131 Wn.2d 25, 929 P.2d 389 (1997), fails to recognize the nature of the exemption at issue here. RCW 26.23.120 explicitly exempts records from disclosure, not just production, except as provided therein.

In *Koenig*, the Court examined redactions to records that were otherwise disclosable under the PRA. In this case, however, the Court of Appeals properly held that the *entire* case comment history is exempt from disclosure under the PRA, and is instead only disclosable as provided in RCW 26.23.120. Accordingly, redactions within the case comment history are governed by RCW 26.23.120, not the PRA. *See Anderson*, 196 Wn. App. at 685 n.14.

With regard to the e-mail related to his child support case, Mr. Anderson argues that *Amren* required DCS to disclose and produce the e-mail in redacted form. But again, *Amren* addresses records which the Court explicitly held were *not* exempt from disclosure or production under the PRA. The Court stated that "if the requested material contains both exempt and non-exempt material," the non-exempt material must be

produced. 131 Wn.2d at 32. In this case, however, records related to individual support enforcement cases are entirely exempt from disclosure under the PRA by RCW 26.23.120(1). Mr. Anderson has never disputed that the e-mail in question related to his support enforcement case. *See*, *e.g.*, CP at 231 (requesting an e-mail "regarding" Mr. Anderson's support enforcement case). Thus, it was exempt from disclosure under the PRA and only subject to disclosure and production as provided in RCW 26.23.120.

Mr. Anderson's argument related to the requested attorney-client e-mail based on *O'Neill v. City of Shoreline*, 170 Wn.2d 138, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010) and *Mechling v. City of Monroe*, 152 Wn. App. 830, 222 P.3d 808 (2009) is also misplaced. Again, Mr. Anderson's argument rests on the presumption that DCS records concerning child support cases are subject to disclosure under the PRA, despite the fact that the legislature explicitly and specifically exempted such records from disclosure under the PRA. RCW 26.23.120(1). Mr. Anderson relies on cases in which records were publicly available under the PRA and exempt only to the extent they contained attorney client-privileged communications. In *O'Neill*, for example, this Court held that metadata related to a non-confidential, non-exempt e-mail was subject to disclosure under the PRA. 170 Wn.2d 138. Similarly in *Mechling*, the requestor sought

e-mails that included privileged, attorney-client communications, but the records were otherwise fully disclosable to the public under the PRA. 152 Wn. App. at 830.

The e-mail at issue here, unlike the e-mails in *O'Neill* or *Mechling*, is a confidential record about a child support case that is not disclosable to the general public. In effect, it is protected by two layers of confidentiality. First, the e-mail is a confidential record about a child support case that is entirely exempt from public disclosure by RCW 26.23.120. Second, the content of the e-mail communications is confidential and exempt from production by attorney-client privilege. Thus, while select individuals may be able to access case-related e-mails under RCW 26.23.120, as occurred here, such e-mails are *never* accessible under the PRA.

To the extent Mr. Anderson relies on *O'Neill* to argue that he is entitled to e-mail metadata, his argument is improper. In *O'Neill*, this Court held that a request for a copy of an e-mail is not equivalent to a request for metadata about that e-mail. 170 Wn.2d at 151-52. Instead, the requestor must explicitly state that he or she is seeking metadata. *Id.* Mr. Anderson did not raise metadata as an issue before the trial court or on appeal. *See* CP at 1-10 (Complaint); Appellant's Opening Br. at 7-8, *Anderson*, 196 Wn. App. 674 (No. 47660-6-II). Rather, he first raised an

argument related to metadata in his Motion for Reconsideration before the Court of Appeals. Appellant's Mot. for Recons. at 7, *Anderson*, Wn. App. 674 (No. 47660-6-II). Accordingly, this issue is not properly before this Court for review. *See* RAP 9.12 (limiting appellate review of an order granting summary judgment to evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court). Regardless, the argument related to metadata lacks merit. Mr. Anderson requested "a copy of the e-mail sent from Judy Rupo [sic] to King County Prosecutor's Office on 3/10/10 regarding [his] case," but did not request metadata associated with that e-mail. CP at 231. Accordingly, even if disclosure of the e-mail was governed by the PRA rather than RCW 26.23.120, DCS would not be obligated to provide metadata in response to Mr. Anderson's request. *O'Neill*, 170 Wn.2d at 151-52.

- B. Mr. Anderson Has Not Raised an Issue of Substantial Public Importance
  - 1. The Court of Appeals decision does not limit individuals' ability to access their own child support case records pursuant to RCW 26.23.120.

Mr. Anderson mischaracterizes and misapplies the Court of Appeals decision when he alleges that it "limited over a million individuals' ability to access their own DCS records." Pet. for Review at 9. Consistent with the legislature's mandate that DCS child support

case records "shall only be subject to public disclosure as provided" in that statute, the Court of Appeals held that individuals must use the rules and processes laid out in RCW 26.23.120 to access such records. To the extent an individual believes DCS is wrongly withholding child support case records, he or she can make a motion under RCW 26.23.120(3)(d) or otherwise seek to enforce RCW 26.23.120 through judicial review of the agency's decision.

2. The Court of Appeals decision correctly applies unambiguous statutory language protecting important privacy interests of thousands of Washingtonians.

Mr. Anderson correctly points out that DCS's child support enforcement services involve hundreds of thousands of individuals, including custodial parents, noncustodial parents, and their minor children. Pet. for Review at 10; CP at 227. The information gathered and maintained by DCS in the course of providing these support enforcement services is deeply personal in nature. *See* CP at 227-28.

Accordingly, the legislature exempted DCS child support case records from disclosure under the PRA and provided an alternative structure for disclosure of such records to qualified individuals. The general rule provided by the legislature in RCW 26.23.120(1) is unambiguous: DCS records related to individual support enforcement cases "shall be private and confidential and shall only be subject to public

disclosure as provided in [RCW 26.23.120]." If, as Mr. Anderson argues, the PRA governs child support case records, anyone could access a specific, known individual's confidential DCS records by asking for a de-identified copy of those records. Under the PRA, which Mr. Anderson claims governs disclosure of these DCS records, the identity of the requestor, the purpose of the request, and the fact that he already knows the identity of the custodial parent may not matter. See RCW 42.56.080 (forbidding agencies from distinguishing among requestors). DCS could be required to produce the records with the custodial parent's name and other identifiers redacted. See Koenig v. City of Des Moines, 158 Wn.2d 173, 182, 142 P.3d 162 (2006) (holding that records subject to disclosure under the PRA must be produced with the name of the child victim of sexual assault redacted, even though such redaction would not protect the victim's identity); Bainbridge Island Police Guild v. City of Puyallup, 172 Wn.2d 398, 416-18, 259 P.3d 190 (2011) (plurality opinion) (explaining that where an individual's identity is exempt under the PRA, an agency must produce records with that individual's name redacted, even if, based on the requestor's prior knowledge, such redaction will not protect the individual's identity).

This cannot be the result intended by the legislature, which explicitly made all child support case records maintained by DCS private

and confidential. RCW 26.23.120(1). Instead, as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, the legislature exempted the records from disclosure under the PRA and provided a separate statutory scheme governing their disclosure. This approach balances the PRA's "policy of allowing access to records held by government agencies" with the interest in protecting the privacy of the hundreds of thousands of Washingtonians involved in child support cases. *Anderson*, 196 Wn. App. at 684 (quoting *Deer*, 122 Wn. App. at 93).

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Mr. Anderson has failed to meet the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) for granting a petition for review. Accordingly, the Petition for Review should be denied.